FILED²/68
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/16/2017
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

94502-1

MAY 1 1 2017

Court of Appeals Cause No. 339297

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By_

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM MERRIMAN AND COLLEEN MERRIMAN, husband and wife,

Appellants,

vs.

AMERICAN GUARANTEE & LIABILITY INSURANCE COMPANY; YORK RISK SERVICES GROUP, INC.; PARTNERS CLAIM SERVICES, INC.; BERND MOVING SYSTEMS, INC., a Washington corporation; DOUGLAS A. BERND and JANE DOE BERND, and John Does 1-5.

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James S. Elliott, WSBA #28420
J. Jay Carroll, WSBA #17424
Halverson | Northwest Law Group P.C.
405 East Lincoln Avenue

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

York Risk Services Group, Inc. requests that this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals' Opinion in Part B of this Petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The petition challenges the decision terminating review by the Court of Appeals, Division Three, in *Merriman v. American Guarantee & Liability Ins. Co. et. al.*, Case No. 33929-7-III (April 11, 2017). A copy of the decision is attached in the Appendix at A-1 through A-40.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the duty of care an insurer may owe to its insureds extends to a third-party administrator retained by the insurer to adjust claims, where Division III's decision recognizing such a duty:
- a. conflicts with Division I precedent holding that an insured may not assert a claim for negligence against an insurance adjuster;
- b. threatens to distort the allocation of risks and responsibilities in contracts between insurers and third-party administrators, contractual arrangements that are common in Washington's insurance industry;
- c. allows an insured to "su[e] the insurer in contract and the insurer's agent in tort over the same contractual duty," creating uncertainty over the independent duty doctrine (App. A at 38 (Korsmo, J., dissenting)); and

- d. exacerbates existing confusion over whether, under this Court's precedents, negligence on the part of an insurer is a tort separate and distinct from the longstanding tort of bad faith.
- 2. Whether the duty of good faith the insurer owes to its insureds under RCW 48.01.030, which arises out of the fiduciary relationship between the insurer and the insured, should be broadly construed to apply to a third party administrator who has no direct contractual relationship with the insured, where such a construction would lead to the absurd result of the good faith duty being extended to insureds as well, and where the regulations implementing the good faith duty focus on insurers.
- 3. Whether, as Division III held below, the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") permits a claim against an adjuster or other professional based upon the quality of the services rendered or, as Division I has held, is limited to "the entrepreneurial or commercial aspects of professional services." Ramos v. Arnold, 141 Wn.App.11, 20 (2007).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Bernd Moving Systems, Inc. ("Bernd") owned a warehouse in Yakima, Washington where customers stored personal property. (App. A at 2.) Plaintiffs and Respondents Bill and Colleen Merriman ("the Merrimans") were among Bernd's customers. (Id.) On August 5, 2012, a

fire at the Bernd warehouse destroyed the facility and the property stored there, including property belonging to the Merrimans. (*Id.*)

Bernd was insured under a commercial insurance policy issued by American Guarantee. (App. A at 3.) The policy included first-party coverage for Bernd's building and business personal property, as well as liability coverage protecting Bernd from third-party claims. American Guarantee had a Third-Party Administrator ("TPA") agreement with York to administer and adjust insurance claims made on its policies. (Id.)

After the fire, Bernd tendered the loss to American Guarantee, which in turn notified York. (App. A at 3.) York then entered into a subcontract with a third-party claims administrator, Partners Claim Service ("Partners"), to help York investigate and adjust Bernd's fire claims. (Id.) It is undisputed that Bernd had no contract with York or Partners; Bernd's insurance contract was solely with American Guarantee.

The Merrimans communicated with Partners' employees about their claim on Bernd's policy, and ultimately filed a lawsuit against Bernd for negligence. (App. A at 5.) After receiving a copy of Bernd's American Guarantee policy in discovery, the Merrimans amended their action to assert causes of action in tort and the CPA against American Guarantee, York, and, eventually, Partners. (*Id.* at 6.) In particular, the Merrimans alleged that American Guarantee, York, and Partners failed to disclose that they

were covered by the Bernd policy as first parties, and that the purported mishandling of the Merrimans' claim amounted to negligence, misrepresentation, constructive fraud, and bad faith conduct under the Washington insurance laws. (Id.)

After the trial court certified a class action consisting of all Bernd customers whose property was destroyed in the warehouse fire, Bernd settled with the Merrimans, and the remaining defendants moved for summary judgment. (App. A at 6.) York argued, among other things, that the Merrimans and other Bernd customers were not insureds under the Bernd policy, but third-party claimants. (Id.) York argued further that, as an adjuster, York could not be sued as an insurer in tort or under Washington insurance law. (Id.) The trial court granted summary judgment for York on the Merrimans' causes of action for bad faith, general negligence, insurance law violations, and per se violation of the CPA, but allowed their claims for misrepresentation, constructive fraud, and non-per se CPA violations to proceed. (CP 2183-2186.)

York successfully moved to decertify the class, and the trial court granted York summary judgment on the remaining claims as to the Merrimans. (App. A at 2.) The Merrimans later settled with the insurers for \$757,814.31, double their \$316,125.14 property claim. (CP 3518-27.)

The Merrimans appealed, and the Court of Appeals reversed. Construing the business personal coverage terms of the Bernd policy, the Court held that the Merrimans and other storage customers were first-party claimants. (App. A at 14.) The Court held that York was also subject to the good faith duty in RCW 48.01.030, construing the phrases "all persons" and "the business of insurance" to reflect "broad language," which "unambiguously applies to insurance adjusters." (Id. at 16-17.) The Court of Appeals then held, for the first time, that an insurance adjuster had a duty of care that runs to the insured when it contracts with an insurer to handle claims administration. (Id. at 32.) It purported to ground this tort duty in an "intended beneficiary" relationship between York and the Merrimans supposedly created by the TPA agreement between York, as a third-party administrator, and American Guarantee, as insurer. (Id. at 28.) Because "property owners were expected to benefit from York's performance of its obligations under the third party administrator agreement," the Court reasoned, York was required to "take responsibility for the associated claims handling regulations" and related tort duties. (Id. at 30, 32.) Finally, the Court held that the Merrimans had "asserted a viable non per se CPA claim." (Id. at 36.)

Justice Korsino dissented. He reasoned that "[t]he majority goes too far in creating new causes of action against the adjuster, York," and that its

holding "unnecessarily conflict[s] with the decision in International Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 122 Wn. App. 736, 87 P.3d 774 (2004)." (App. A at 38 (Korsmo, J., dissenting).) Noting that "plaintiffs often must choose between suing in tort and in contract under our independent duty doctrine," Justice Korsmo explained: "I do not think they can evade that stricture by suing the insurer in contract and the insurer's agent in tort over the same contractual duty." (Id. at 38-39.) Because "the only duty imposed on York arose from its contractual obligation to fulfill American Guarantee's obligation under the insurance policy," and because "[a]bsent that contract, there was no independent duty owed the plaintiffs by York," there was, in Justice Korsmo's view, "no basis for extending liability to the adjuster" here. (Id.)

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

1. The Court Should Grant Review to Clarify Whether an Adjuster Owes an Insured a Tort Duty of Care

The decision below imposed, for the first time in Washington, a tort duty of care running directly from insurance adjusters to insureds. This Court should grant review on this issue for four related, independently sufficient reasons. See Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b)(2) & (4). First, review is warranted to resolve the conflict between the decision below and International Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Company, 122 Wn. App. 736, 87 P.3d 774 (2004). Second, the question whether an

insured may sue an independent adjuster for negligently performing duties that arise only from its contract with the insurer carries significant ramifications for the insurance market and Washington public policy. Third, review is further warranted to clarify the proper application of the independent duty doctrine, which is critical to maintaining the boundary between contract and tort remedies. Fourth, review by this Court would clarify whether Washington law recognizes a duty of reasonable care in the insurance context separate and apart from the statutory duty of good faith borne by insurers.

a. The Opinion Below Creates an Inter-Division Conflict over Adjuster Tort Liability

As both the majority and dissent recognized, the decision below conflicts with Division I's holding in *International Ultimate*. (App. A at 23, 38.) This Court should intervene to resolve the conflict.

The panel majority below treated independent adjusters as backup insurers, imposing on them the same tort duty to handle claims non-negligently that insurers may owe to insureds. (App. A at 19-31.) The majority found no Washington precedent recognizing such a duty on adjusters, but permitted the negligence claim to proceed against York on the ground that the claim-adjusting work it performed was intended to benefit insureds. (Id. at 23-27, 29-30.) In reaching this result, the majority

reasoned that imposing the tort duties established by the Unfair Claim Settlement Practices Regulation, WAC 284-30-300 et seq. would "advance[] Washington insurance law" and its policy of protecting insureds. (Id. at 31.) This is despite the fact that, as the court noted, the regulations govern only insurers, and do not apply to adjusters. (Id. at 35.)

Division I took the opposite approach in *International Ultimate*, holding that a claim adjuster *cannot* be held liable in tort by the insured in the same way as insurers. 122 Wn. App. at 757-58. The majority below acknowledged the conflict with *International Ultimate*, but dismissed that decision as "inscrutable." (App. A at 23 n.8.) The dissent, on the other hand, read *International Ultimate* as maintaining the boundary between contract and tort remedies, so that the insured cannot both recover in contract from the insurer and in tort from the adjuster. (App. A at 38-39.)

This Court should intervene to resolve this conflict and clarify whether an insurance adjuster owes an insured tort duties merely because of its "contractual obligation to fulfill [the insurer's] obligations under the insurance policy." (App. A at 39 (Korsmo, J., dissenting).) If allowed to stand, the majority opinion would work a significant extension of negligence exposure in the insurance context, not only because a TPA's work is defined solely by its contract with the insurer, but also because TPAs do not issue insurance policies and have no role in negotiating policy

terms. Nor can the majority's reasoning easily be limited to TPAs; individual adjusters also have contractual relationships with insurers (their employers), and their adjusting activities could equally be characterized as "benefit[ting]" insureds. (App. A at 30.) Thus, while some federal decisions have attempted to draw distinctions between the tort exposure of TPAs and individual adjusters, this Court's guidance is badly needed.

b. Imposing Negligence Liability on Third-Party Adjusters Would Distort Insurance Services

The existence and scope of tort duties for insurance adjusters presents an issue of substantial public interest. As a California appellate court has observed, "widespread market acceptance" of independent adjusting services such as those performed by York have "shown these services to be useful and desirable." Sanchez v. Lindsey Morden Claims Servs, Inc., 72 Cal. App. 4th 249, 254, 84 Cal. Rptr. 2d 799 (1999). Imposing new tort duties on TPAs could discourage insurers from contracting with outside adjusters, undermining the benefits and efficiencies produced by these agreements without any meaningful additional protection for insureds.

¹ Compare Grant v. Unigard Indem. Co., No. CV14-00198 BJR, 2014 WL 12028484, at *3 (W.D. Wash. July 29, 2014) (rejecting negligence claim against individual adjuster) with Grant v. Unigard Indem. Co., No. CV14-00198 BJR, 2015 WL 11233201, at *3-*4 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 13, 2015) (allowing claim to proceed against TPA).

Page 16/68

By treating adjusters as insurers, the decision below distorts the allocation of risk and responsibilities between insurers and TPAs. "Insurers are able to define and the limit the risks, and to set premium levels commensurate with the risks, using complex and nuanced contracts (policies)." Sanchez, 72 Cal. App. 4th at 254. By contrast, TPAs and their adjusters have no say in the terms of the policies they administer, and do not receive premiums from the insureds. Rather, "the insurer-retained adjuster is subject to the control of its clients," who have "the ultimate power to grant or deny coverage." Id. at 253. Saddling TPAs and their adjusters with tort duties despite their limited contractual duties would create multiple anomalies:

First, "[c] reating a separate duty from the adjuster to the insured would thrust the adjuster into what would be an irreconcilable conflict between such duty and the adjuster's contractual duty to follow the instructions of its client, the insurer." Meineke v. GAB Business Servs., Inc. 991 P.2d 267, 271 (Ariz. 1999). As one court explained, "[i]nsurers and insureds often disagree as to coverage or the amount of loss." Sanchez, 72 Cal. App. 4th at 253. Because an adjuster owes a duty to the insurer who engaged him, see RCW 48.17.410, "a new duty to the insureds would conflict with that duty, and interfere with its faithful performance. This is poor policy," Sanchez, 72 Cal. App. 4th at 253.

Second, creating a TPA tort duty would "reduce, perhaps severely, the offering of independent adjuster services." Sanchez, 72 Cal. App. 4th at 254. As this case illustrates, a TPA would face double exposure for any purported claim mishandling: an indemnification claim by the insurer for the insured's recovery on the policy, and a direct tort claim by the insured. And unlike insurers, TPAs cannot limit risk through policy terms and underwriting. "If adjusters faced negligence liability to insureds, market forces would tend to drive adjusting activities in-house, where they could be shielded with contractual exclusions, disclaimers, and limitations," id., or, at a minimum, increase the costs of TPA services.

Nor would these higher costs be offset by greater protections for insureds, who have remedies against insurers for mishandling claims. The majority's rule simply permits the insured to "su[e] the insurer in contract and the insurer's agent in tort" for the same basic harm. (App. A at 38 (Korsmo, J., dissenting).) In this way, "imposing tort liability on independent adjusters would create a redundancy unjustified by the inevitable costs that eventually would be passed on to insureds." *Hamill v. Pawtucket Mut. Ins. Co.*, 892 A.2d 226, 230-31 (Vt. 2005).

In light of these policy considerations, it is no surprise that most decisions from other jurisdictions have refused to impose a duty running

from insurance adjusters to the insured.² If Washington is to depart so radically from this consensus, it should do so only after this Court has weighed the competing doctrinal and policy factors.

c. The Panel Majority's Novel Duty Blurs the Contours of The Independent Duty Doctrine

As the dissent notes, the panel majority's rationale for recognizing a negligence action against adjusters will sow confusion over the scope of the independent duty doctrine. (App. A at 38-39 (Korsmo, J., dissenting).)

The independent duty doctrine is "an analytical tool used to assist this court in determining whether to recognize a tort cause of action in the first instance" in commercial contexts involving business or other contractual relationships. *Eastwood v. Horse Harbor Found., Inc.*, 170 Wn. 2d 380, 406-07, 241 P.3d 1256 (2010) (Chambers, J., concurring). In such situations, parties may "have duties imposed by law in addition to any duties they have assumed by agreement," and the creation of tort liability may

² E.g. Trinity Baptist Church v. Bhd. Mut. Ins. Servs., LLC, 341 P.3d 75, 84-85 (Okla. 2014); Hamill, 892 A.2d at 230-31; Charleston Dry Cleaners & Laundry, Inc. v. Zurich Am. Ins. Co., 586 S.E.2d 586, 588 (S.C. 2003); Meineke, 991 P.2d at 271; Akpan v. Farmers Ins. Exch., Inc., 961 So. 2d 865, 872-73 (Ala. Civ. App. 2007); Sanchez, 72 Cal. App. 4th 249, 254-55 (1999); King v. Nat'l Sec. Fire & Cas. Co., 656 So. 2d 1338, 1339 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1995); Troxell v. Am. States Ins. Co., 596 N.E.2d 921, 925 & n.1 (Ind. Ct. App. 1992); Grossman v. Homesite Ins. Co., 2009 WL 2357978, at *3 (Conn. Super. Ct. July 6, 2009) (unpub.); Velastequi v. Exch. Ins. Co., 132 Misc. 2d 896, 897 (N.Y. Civ. Ct. 1986); but see Morvay v. Hanover Ins. Companies, 506 A.2d 333, 334 (N.H. 1986).

disrupt "reasonable business expectations" and the "ability to insure against and apportion risk." *Id.* at 407, 410; *see also id.* at 389. That is precisely the situation here, where bailment contracts, insurance contracts, and TPA contracts govern the relationships among plaintiffs, Bernd, its insurer, and York.

The majority held the independent duty doctrine inapplicable to this case because there were no direct contractual duties owed from York to the plaintiffs. (App. A at 23.) That distorts the independent duty doctrine in at least two respects. First, this Court has made clear that the doctrine applies in contexts involving interconnected parties and contracts even if there is no direct contractual relationship between plaintiff and defendant. See, e.g., Eastwood, 170 Wn. 2d at 415 (Chambers, J., concurring) ("Berschauer/Phillip differed from other cases in which we have discussed the independent duty doctrine because most of the parties had no contracts between or among themselves"). Second, the majority purported to ground its novel tort duty in an indirect contractual relationship, concluding that plaintiffs were "intended beneficiaries" of the contract between York and the insurer who "were expected to benefit from York's performance." (App. A at 29-30.)

The majority here did precisely what the independent duty doctrine prohibits: It imposed tort liability on York based on contractual "duties

Page 20/68

undertaken by York in the third party administrator agreement" as opposed to duties that this Court has determined should be imposed irrespective of any contract. (App. A at 33.) Because the majority's approach is flatly inconsistent with this Court's independent duty precedent, see Eastwood, 170 Wn. 2d at 389 ("An injury is remediable in tort if it traces back to the breach of a tort duty arising independently of the terms of the contract."), this Court should restore clarity in this important area.

d. The Panel Majority's Novel Tort Duty
Exacerbates Existing Confusion over Whether
Insurers Have a Duty of Care Separate from
Their Statutory Duty of Good Faith

This case also provides an opportunity to clarify whether insurers are subject to a duty of care, and the attendant tort of negligence, separate from their duty of good faith giving rise to a tort of bad faith. While the majority decision below assumed that negligence and bad faith are two distinct torts applicable to insurers—and by extension to TPAs and their adjusters—this Court's jurisprudence and the Court of Appeals' own reasoning demonstrates they are one and the same. This single tort is the tort of bad faith. There is no separate tort of negligence in this context,

This Court has long recognized a duty of good faith on the part of insurers and a corresponding tort of bad faith. See Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 385-86, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986) (collecting

Page 21/68

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