No. 339297

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

WILLIAM MERRIMAN AND COLLEEN MERRIMAN, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

AMERICAN GUARANTEE & LIABILITY INSURANCE COMPANY; YORK RISK SERVICES GROUP, INC.; PARTNERS CLAIM SERVICES INC.; BERND MOVING SYSTEMS, INC.; a Washington Corporation; DOUGLAS A. BERND AND JANE DOE BERND; and JOHN DOES 1-5,

Defendants-Petitioners.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

William C. Smart, WSBA #8192 Ian S. Birk, WSBA #31431 Kathryn M. Knudsen, WSBA #41075

**KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.** 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3200

Seattle, WA 98101-3052 Telephone: (206) 623-1900

Facsimile: (206) 623-3384

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals remanded claims against York for bad faith, negligent misrepresentation, negligence, and violation of the CPA. In its petition, York does not analyze the elements of these claims. Instead, it lumps them together under the label "tort liability," and argues that it should be immunized from liability no matter what it did.

The standards of RAP 13.4 are not met. The Court of Appeals applied settled principles and remanded four established claims. No public policy of this state commands that insurance adjusters be accorded special protection when they hide coverage from innocent insureds.

- A. Subjecting York to the same liabilities as other actors in the insurance industry does not warrant review.
  - 1. The Court of Appeals decision does not create a conflict with International Ultimate warranting review.

Any conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and International Ultimate, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance Co., 122 Wn. App. 736, 87 P.3d 774 (2004), does not warrant review. First, International Ultimate presented a different question than is presented in

this case. Second, the reasoning of *International Ultimate* has been superseded by decisions of this Court.

In *International Ultimate*, an insured brought bad faith, negligence, and CPA claims against its insurer, and its employee adjuster, Zeller. The court held that the CPA claim had to be dismissed because, "[t]o be liable under the CPA, there must be a contractual relationship between the parties," but the contract was with the insurance company, not Zeller. *Id.*. at 758. The court dismissed the negligence claim on the ground that corporate officers were personally liable only "where the tortfeasor was a corporate officer who actively participated in a conversion." *Ibid.* (citing *Dodson v. Economy Equipment Co.*, 188 Wash. 340, 62 P.2d 708 (1936)).

But *International Ultimate* did not further address whether an employee adjuster in Zeller's position owed any duty, let alone whether a separate corporate entity such as York—which undertook all of American Guarantee's claim handling duties—would owe a duty to the insured. And the case does not even hint that insurance adjusters, as such, are immune from liability. As a result, *International Ultimate* does not create a conflict warranting review by this Court.

The reasoning of *International Ultimate* has also been superseded by this Court. *International Ultimate* believed that CPA liability required a contractual relationship between the parties. As this Court has since held,

though, "contractual privity ordinarily is not required to bring a CPA claim." Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 43 n.6, 204 P.3d 885 (2009). The Court of Appeals in this case was required to follow Panag and appropriately determined whether York could be liable under the CPA by applying the Hangman Ridge elements. See Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771, 787, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013). Review is not necessary where the Court of Appeals has applied this Court's precedent rather than superseded lower-court decisions.

Furthermore, York crafts its primary argument—that adjusters do not owe a tort duty of care—around an alleged conflict in the case law involving *International Ultimate*. This issue was not raised below. York cited *International Ultimate* exactly three times in its appellate briefing, each time solely with respect to the CPA. See Br. of Respondent York at 38, 43, and 46, COA No. 33929-7-III.

# 2. Holding York liable for its own acts does not "distort insurance services"; not holding it liable would be a distortion.

York's primary argument for review is the argument that it is a "distortion" to hold that York is liable for its own conduct. York argues that "policy considerations" show that York should not be held liable for its own bad faith, negligent misrepresentation, negligence, and unfair or deceptive acts. Pet. at 11. There are several problems with this argument.

The first is that York has made a highly selective review of the non-Washington "policy considerations" that supposedly give it impunity to hide insurance coverage. York relies on Sanchez v. Lindsey Morden Claims Servs., Inc., 84 Cal. Rptr. 2d 799 (Ct. App. 1999), but overlooks that its home state of California "easily" found a duty to the insured by independent adjusters for conduct similar to York's in Bock v. Hansen, 170 Cal. Rptr. 3d 293, 302 (Ct. App. 2014). In *Bock*, an independent adjuster made false statements concealing applicable coverages. Id. at 297-98. The court rejected York's "policy considerations" (and specifically refuted the adjuster's reliance on Sanchez). The court held, based on traditional tort principles, "a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation can lie against an insurance adjuster." Id. at 304. California also has subjected independent adjusters to liability for statutory violations: "[I]t would do considerable violence to the statutory language to read as outside the reach of the Act, insurance adjusters who by definition conduct an important aspect of the business regulated." Bodenhamer v. Superior Court, 223 Cal. Rptr. 486, 489 (Ct. App. 1986).

In *Sanchez*, the California appellate court reached a different conclusion on a negligence claim where an independent adjuster allegedly delayed a claim payment with the result that the insured was sued by a third party. 84 Cal. Rptr. at 800. The adjuster in *Sanchez* had not made

extensive promises to adjust the claim for the benefit of the claimants as York did, the adjuster did not conceal coverage which was applicable, and the court did not consider Washington statutory and common law, Restatement (Third) of Torts § 6 (Tent. Draft. No. 2 2014), Restatement (Second) of Torts § 286 (1965), nor the case law supporting these sections. Neither *Sanchez* (nor any other authority) stands for the proposition that independent adjusters may never be sued no matter what they have done.

York's supposed "policy considerations" also do not warrant departure from the settled principles the Court of Appeals applied. York complains that making it responsible for properly handling the insurance claims of the owners—including disclosing applicable coverage—somehow creates a conflict between York and American Guarantee. Pet. at 10 (citing *Meineke v. GAB Business Servs., Inc.*, 991 P.2d 267, 271 (Ariz. 1999)). But a first-party property insurer in Washington is not in an adversarial posture towards the claimant, but "has a quasi-fiduciary duty to act in good faith toward its insured." *Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington*, 176 Wn.2d 686, 696, 295 P.3d 239 (2013). "Since the duty to comply with claims handling regulations could not require York to do anything that American Guarantee was not itself required to do, it cannot present a conflict between York and American Guarantee." App. A at 32.

York's next complaint is that holding York liable for its actions might reduce the offering of independent adjuster services in the marketplace. Pet. at 11. Again York cites *Sanchez* and ignores *Bock*. If holding adjusters liable for concealing insurance coverage impaired the market, the *Bock* and *Bodenhamer* decisions in York's home state of California would have done so long ago. They did not. On the contrary, holding a party responsible for its own misbehavior "safeguards against what might otherwise be an incentive for an unscrupulous insurer to engage an unscrupulous claims administrator who, by withholding information and cooperation, will prevent persons from ever discovering that insurance covers their loss." App. A at 32–33. One consequence of York's argument is that, in an appropriate case, an insurer could eliminate most or all liability for extra-contractual remedies by contracting with an independent contractor to perform its obligations.

Last, York does not demonstrate that any of its proposed "policy considerations" overcome the Washington statutory law holding York accountable for its own conduct. This Court applies the legislature's constitutional policy choices. Washington follows a rule of several liability directing that the trier of fact "shall" determine the percentage of fault "attributable to every entity which caused the claimant's damages." RCW 4.22.070(1). Washington declares actionable any "unfair or

deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce."

RCW 19.86.020 & .090. And Washington deems insurance a business "affected by the public interest, requiring that all persons be actuated by good faith, abstain from deception, and practice honesty and equity in all insurance matters." RCW 48.01.030. York's "policy considerations" do not justify departure from policy and law already settled in this state.

# 3. The Court of Appeals followed the independent duty doctrine.

Citing Justice Chambers' concurrence in *Eastwood v. Horse Harbor Foundation, Inc.*, 170 Wn.2d 380, 241 P.3d 1256 (2010), York claims that the Court of Appeals opinion will "sow confusion" over the scope of the independent duty doctrine. App. A at 12. The opinion, York says, allows it to be sued "in tort" while the owners previously asserted contract and tort claims against the insurer. Pet. at 1. In fact, the opinion faithfully follows this Court's independent duty case law.

In *Eastwood*, a lessor sued for damage a tenant had done to the leased premises. 170 Wn.2d at 384. The lessor sought remedies both for breach of the lease and for the tort of waste. *Ibid*. This Court unanimously held that the lessor was entitled to recover tort damages for waste even though the parties also had entered into the lease contract. *Eastwood* underscores that, if background tort principles support a duty, there is

nothing surprising in holding a party liable for breach of a tort or statutory duty even if the party also entered into a contract in the same transaction.

As Eastwood held, "[e]conomic losses are sometimes recoverable in tort, even if they arise from contractual relationships." *Id.* at 388. This Court has recognized overlapping tort and contract duties for "failure of an insurer to act in good faith," as well as "negligent misrepresentation," which is among the claims here. *Ibid.* (citing *American States Ins. Co. v. Symes of Silverdale, Inc.*, 150 Wn.2d 462, 469, 78 P.3d 1266 (2003) & ESCA Corp. v. KPMG Peat Marwick, 135 Wn.2d 820, 825, 959 P.2d 651 (1998)). The appropriate analysis is to apply "ordinary tort principles." *Id.* at 389. This includes, for negligent misrepresentation, the standards of Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552 (1977). *Ibid.* (quoting *Alejandre v. Bull*, 159 Wn.2d 674, 686, 153 P.3d 864 (2007)).

This is just what the Court of Appeals did. In considering the Merrimans' negligent misrepresentation claim, the court looked to the governing principles of that claim, including Section 552 of the Restatement (among other authority). App. A at 18. In determining whether the Merrimans had claims against York for bad faith, negligence, and violation of the CPA, the court looked the foundational principles of those claims. *Eastwood* holds that determining whether a tort duty is owed depends on the law defining the duty in question. This "careful, case-by-

case analysis" of whether an independent tort duty supports recovery is exactly what the Court of Appeals did. *Eastwood*, 170 Wn.2d at 296.

Justice Chambers' concurrence stands for nothing different. York claims that Justice Chambers wrote separately to advocate resort to the independent duty doctrine broadly "in commercial contexts involving business or other contractual relationships." Pet. at 12. In truth Justice Chambers' concurrence explained that the independent duty rule "was never a rule in the ordinary sense," and had only been applied "in cases involving product liability and claims arising out of construction or the sale of real estate." *Eastwood*, 170 Wn.2d at 406–07 (Chambers, J., concurring). Since the lead opinion held that the rule is to look to tort law to define tort duties, and since Justice Chambers' concurrence agreed and found the independent duty doctrine limited to product liability, construction, and real estate "based upon policy considerations unique to those industries," *id.* at 416, the Court of Appeals was correct look to traditional tort principles to evaluate each of the Merrimans' claims.

Indeed, York does not even argue that the independent duty doctrine applies to the Merrimans' bad faith and CPA claims. Nor could it. "RCW 48.30.010 has been amended three times since the CPA was enacted and yet the Legislature has not afforded the insurance industry immunity from CPA liability." *Industrial Indem. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d

907, 925, 792 P.2d 520 (1990). The independent duty doctrine "cannot be applied to bar a statutory cause of action." 170 Wn.2d at 404 (Madsen, C.J., concurring).

With respect to negligence—the one claim on which the Court of Appeals relies on York's contract with American Guarantee—the question is whether York's undertakings in the contract give rise to negligence liability to the Merrimans under "ordinary tort principles." Eastwood, 170 Wn.2d at 389. The Court of Appeals decision shows that they do. The Restatement (Third) of Torts states that one who "in the course of his business . . . performs a service for the benefit of others, is subject to liability for pecuniary loss caused to them by their reliance upon the service, if he fails to exercise reasonable care." App. at 26 n.10 (quoting Restatement (Third) of Torts § 6 (Tent. Draft No. 2 2014). This liability is both triggered by—and *limited* to—situations where loss has occurred "through reliance upon [the service] in a transaction that the actor intends to influence." Ibid. The Court of Appeals' reliance on York's contractual undertakings flowed from the traditional tort principles that determine whether a tort duty is owed. As both the Restatement and case law show, a tort duty may arise in part because the defendant undertakes to perform a duty with knowledge that the plaintiff will rely on the defendant to perform it properly. This is no novel rule calling for review by this Court,

but, according to Justice Cardozo, "ancient learning" in tort law. *Roth v. Kay*, 35 Wn. App. 1, 4, 664 P.2d 1299 (1983) (quoting *Glanzer v. Shepard*, 135 N.E. 275, 276 (N.Y. 1922)).

An independent basis for finding a duty sounding in negligence is Restatement (Second) of Torts § 286 (1965), which governs when a statutory duty gives rise to negligence liability. *Barrett v. Lucky Seven Saloon, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 259, 269, 96 P.3d 386 (2004); RCW 5.40.050. Because RCW 48.01.030 imposes a duty of good faith on York and, because the purpose of the duty of good faith is to protect those covered by insurance policies, York's failure to disclose the coverage terms supports liability under this tort doctrine also.

Review is not required because the Court of Appeals correctly performed the analysis this Court's decisions require.

# 4. Bad faith and negligence are independent theories.

York argues for the first time that the Court should take this case to decide if insurance bad faith and negligent claim handling are independent theories of recovery. Pet. at 14–15. York did not raise this issue below, and cannot raise it for the first time in a petition for review. *Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998).

Moreover, there is no confusion on this point. In First State Ins.

Co. v. Kemper Nat'l Ins. Co., 94 Wn. App. 602, 612, 971 P.2d 953 (1999),

the court held that an insured was entitled to instructions on both bad faith and negligence because "a party may fail to use ordinary care yet still not act in bad faith" and "each claim presents a different legal theory with different elements." *Tyler v. Grange Ins. Ass'n*, 3 Wn. App. 167, 175, 473 P.2d 193 (1970), explained that where a state has allowed recovery by the insured for either bad faith or negligence, "the finder of the fact is entitled to find liability on the part of the company on the theory of either negligence or bad faith, independent of the other."

York argues that this Court questioned this analysis in *Hamilton v.*State Farm Ins. Co., 83 Wn.2d 787, 792, 523 P.2d 193 (1974), in which it noted that some commentators have called the negligence and bad-faith standards "interchangeable." But in *Hamilton*, the trial court instructed the jury on both the negligence and bad-faith standards, *id.* at 790, and this Court affirmed the jury's verdict for the claimant against the insurer, *id.* at 794. *Hamilton* approved instructing on both negligence and bad-faith standards, because an insurer's violation of either supports recovery. *Ibid.*

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